Plumley

v. Colvin

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

HUNTINGTON DIVISION

JACKSON JUNIOR PLUMLEY,
Plaintiff,
V. Gase No. 3:13-cv-03122
CAROLYN W. COLVIN,
Acting Commissioner of the

Social Security Administration,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

This is an action seeking review of the decisiénh@ Commissioner of the Social
Security Administration (hereinafter ¢h “Commissioner”) denying Plaintiff's
application for disability insurance benefif®1B”) and supplemental security income
(“SSI”) under Titles Il and XVI of the Socidbecurity Act, 42 U.S.C. 88 401-433, 1381-
1383f. The case is presentlyfoee the Court on the parties’motions for judgmentthe
pleadings. (ECF Nos. 11, 12). Both partievdéaonsented in writing to a decision by the
United States Magistrate Judge. (ECF N@s8). The Court has fully considered the
evidence and the arguments of counfelr the reasons that follow, the ColHIND S
that the decision of the Commissioner ipported by substantial evidence and should
be affirmed.

l. Procedural History

Plaintiff, Jackson Junior Plumley (“Claimant”)lefd for DIB and SSI on June 18,

2010 alleging a disability onset date of d@enber 4, 2008, (Tr. at 134, 141), due to
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Osgood-Schlatter disease, back problemsknaoblems, and carpal tunnel disease in
both hands. (Tr. at 173). The Socialc8ety Administration (“SSA”) denied the
applications initially and upon reconsideratioffr. at 62-71, 73-8). Claimant filed a
request for a hearing, (Tr. at 82), whiglas held on September 15, 2011 before the
Honorable Jerry Meade, Administrative Lawdbe (“ALJ”). (Tr. at 30-57). By written
decision dated October 5, 2011, the ALJ determitteat Claimant was not entitled to
benefits. (Tr. at 12-24). The ALJ's demn became the final decision of the
Commissioner on December 17, 2012, whitwe Appeals Council denied Claimant’s
request for review. (Tr. at 1-3).

On February 20, 2013, Claimant filedettpresent civil action seeking judicial
review of the administrative decision pursuao 42 U.S.C. § 405(g). (ECF No. 2). The
Commissioner filed an Answer and a Tranptrof the proceedings on May 2, 2013.
(ECF Nos. 9, 10). Thereafter, the partiesdilieir briefs in support of judgment on the
pleadings. (ECF Nos. 11, 12). Accordipghis matter is ripe for resolution.

Il. Claimant's Background

Claimant was 26 years old at the timelo$ alleged onset adisability and 29
years old on the date of the ALJ’s decision. @9, 34). He graduated from high school
and communicates in English. (Tr. at)3%Claimant has prior work experience
performing manual labor. (Tr. at 53).

[1. Summary of ALJ’s Findings

Under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 423(d)(5), a claimaseeking disability benefits has the
burden of proving a disabilitySeeBlalock v. Richardson483 F.2d 773, 775 (4th Cir.
1972). Adisability is defined as the “inabilitp engage in any substantial gainful activity

by reason of any medically determinable physicahm¥ntal impairment which can be
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expected to result in death or which has lastedcan be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less thanmdnths.” 42 U.S.C. § 423(d)(1)(A).

The Social Security Regulations establish a fiepstequential evaluation process
for the adjudication of disability claims. #n individual is found “not disabled” at any
step of the process, further inquiry is unnexay and benefits are denied. 20 C.F.R. 88
404.1520(a)(4), 416.920(a)(4). First, ethALJ determines whether a claimant is
currently engaged in substfal gainful employmentid. 88 404.1520(b), 416.920(b).
Second, if the claimant is not gainfulgmployed, then the inquiry is whether the
claimant suffers from a severe impairmeld. 88 404.1520(c), 416.920(c). Third, if the
claimant suffers from a severe impaient, the ALJ determines whether this
impairment meets or equals any of the impa@nts listed in Appendix 1to Subpart P of
the Administrative Regulations No. 4 (the “Listingfd. 88 404.1520(d), 416.920(d). If
the impairment does meet or equal a listed impairimé¢hen the claimant is found
disabled and awarded benefits.

However, if the impairment does not meet or equdisted impairment, the
adjudicator must determine the claimant'sidual functional capacity ("“RFC”), which
is the measure of the claimant’s ability togage in substantial gainful activity despite
the limitations of his or her impairmentsl. 8§ 404.1520(e), 416.920(e). In the fourth
step, the ALJ ascertains whether the claimant'sampents prevent the performance of
past relevant workld. 88 404.1520(f), 416.920(f). If the impairments deyent the
performance of past relevant work, then the claitntaas established @rima faciecase
of disability and the burden shifts to the Commassar to prove the final steplcLain
v. Schweiker715 F.2d 866, 868-69 (4th Cir. 1983). Under théhfdind final inquiry, the

Commissioner must demonstrate that thenckant is able to perform other forms of
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substantial gainful activity, while taking intaccount the claimant’s remaining physical
and mental capacities, age, educationd aorior work experiences. 20 C.F.R. 88
404.1520(g), 416.920(gkee also Hunter v. Sullivar®93 F.2d 31, 35 (4th Cir. 1992).
The Commissioner must establish two thin¢B:that the claimant, considering his or
her age, education, skills, work experienaad physical shortcomings has the capacity
to perform an alternative job, and (2) thatstspecific job exists in significant numbers
in the national economy}icLamore v. Weinbergeb38 F.2d 572, 574 (4th Cir. 1976).
When a claimant alleges a mental impairment, thd Almust follow a special
technique” when assessing disability. 20F®. 88 404.1520a, 416.920a. First, the ALJ
evaluates the claimant’s pertinent signapggyoms, and laboratory results to determine
whether the claimant has a medically determinablental impairment.id. 88§
404.1520a(b), 416.920a(b). If such impaimm exists, the ALJ dauments the findings.
Second, the ALJ rates and documents the degré&enctional limitation resulting from
the impairment according to criteria specified metRegulationsld. 88 404.1520a(c),
416.920a(c). Third, after rating the degreefuaictional limitation from the claimant’s
impairment(s), the ALJ determing¢be severity of the limitationld. 88 404.1520a(d),
416.920a(d). Arating of “none” or “mild” inhe first three functional areas (activities of
daily living, social functioning, and concentran, persistence or pace) and “none” in
the fourth (episodes of decompensation) wiBukl in a finding that the impairment is
not severe unless the evidence indicates thate is more than mimal limitation in
the claimant’s ability talo basic work activitiedd. 88 404.1520a(d)(1), 416.920a(d)(1).
Fourth, if the claimant’s impairment teemed severe, the ALJ compares the medical
findings about the severe impairment and tregree of functional limitation against the

criteria of the appropriate listed mental dider to determine if the severe impairment
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meets or is equal to a listed mental disorddr.88 404.1520a(d)(2)416.920a(d)(2).
Finally, if the ALJ finds that the claimant ka severe mental impairment that neither
meets nor equals a listed mental disordeentibhhe ALJ assesses the claimant’s residual
function. 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520a(d)(3), 416.920a(d)(3

In this case, the ALJ determined apreliminary matter that Claimant met the
insured status requirements of the Social Secwatythrough September 30, 2014. (Tr.
at 14, Finding No. 1). The ALJ acknowledgédat Claimant satisfied the first inquiry
because he had not engaged in substantiafigaactivity since Deember 4, 2008, the
alleged disability onset dateld(, Finding No. 2). Under the second inquiry, the ALJ
found that Claimant suffered from sevamepairments of “Osgood Schlatter Diseasé
the right knee; obesity; and borderline intetieal functioning.” (Tr. at 14-16, Finding
No. 3). However, the ALJ found that Claimis neck and back pain, and right ankle
problems were not severe impairments, whiis alleged hand and wrist pain, shoulder
pain, and headaches were non-medically determinabfeairments. (Tr. at 15-16).
Under the third inquiry, the ALJ concludethat Claimant’s impairments, either
individually or in combination, failed taneet or medically equal any of the listed
impairments. (Tr. at 17-19, Finding No. 4). Conseqtly, the ALJ determined that
Claimant had the RFC to:

[Plerform light work as defined i20 C.F.R. 404.1567(b) and 416.967(b)

except he can only occasionally operate foot cdstmath the right lower

extremity; can never climb ladders,p®@s, or scaffolds; can occasionally

climb ramps and stairs; can occasionally balantmms, kneel, crouch, and
crawl; must avoid concentrated exposure to extrewmld, extreme heat,

! Osgood-Schlatter disease is a painful swellingheftump on the upper part of the shinbone, just below
the knee. This bump is called the anterior tibidddércle. Osgood-Schlatter disease is thought to besedu
by small injuries due to repeated overuse befoeckiiee area is finished growing. Most cases get bette
on their own after a few weeks or months and evaliywgo away altogether once the individual finishes
growing. In the rare case where symptoms do nadway, a cast or brace may be used to support the le
until it heals. This typically takes 6 - 8 weeks1@97-2014, A.D.A.M., Inc.
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wetness, humidity, excessive vibi@is, and hazards such as moving

machinery and unprotected heights; he retains #pacity to do two to

three step simple work-like activitieand needs a sit/ stand option at 30

minute intervals.
(Tr. at 19-22, Finding No. 5). Based uptme RFC assessment, the ALJ determined at
the fourth step that Claimant was unablepsform any past relevd work. (Tr. at 22,
Finding No. 6). Under the fifth and final inqyirthe ALJ reviewed Claimant’s past work
experience, age, and education in combinatath his RFC to determine if he would be
able to engage in substantial gainful activifyr. at 22-23, Finding Nos. 7-10). The ALJ
considered that (1) Claimant was born ir829%nd was defined as a younger individual,
(2) he had at least a high school educatamd could communicate in English; and (3)
transferability of job skills was not materied the disability determination. (Tr. at 22,
Finding Nos. 7-9). Given these factor€laimant’s RFC, and the testimony of a
vocational expert, the ALJ determined th@aimant could perform jobs that exist in
significant numbers in the national econorijr. at 22-23, Finding No. 10). At the light
level, Claimant could work as a routingeck or machine tender; and at the sedentary
level, Claimant could work as a security murior a production inspector. (Tr. at 23).
Therefore, the ALJ concluded that Claimamas not disabled as defined in the Social

Security Act, and was nantitled to benefits.Ifl., Finding No. 11).

V. Claimant’s Challenges tothe Commissioner’s Decision

Claimant alleges that the Commissioner’s decissomot supported by substantial
evidence. (ECF No. 11 at 4-10). He argukat (1) the evidence on record as well as
additional evidence attachew his brief support his ‘@sition that his impairments
prevent him from engaging in substantial gainfutidty.” (ECF No. 11 at 5-6); (2) the
ALJ failed to properly evaluate Claimant’s credityil (Id. at 6-9); and (3) the ALJ failed

to fairly evaluate Claimant’s condition under Lisgi 12.05C. d. at 9-10).
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V. RelevantMedical Records

The Court has reviewed the transcriptpobceedings in its entirety including the
medical records in evidence. The Couras confined its summary of Claimant’s
treatment and evaluations to those entries mostaalt to the issues in dispute.

A. Treatment Records

On April 23, 2008, Claimant was adtted to the Camden-Clark Memorial
Hospital with complaints of injury to his righankle after stepping into a ditch at work,
the day prior. (Tr. at 264). Claimant’s gavlas antalgic and he reported pain that was
exacerbated with weight bearing, registering six anten-point pain scale.ld.).
Claimant denied any significant swelj and denied any other injuriesd(. Physical
examination of Claimant’s right leg revedl “some tenderness over the distal right
fibula with no soft tissue swelling odiscoloration of the overlying skin.”lq.).
Claimant’s ankle was “stable with no tendess®ver the medial or lateral malleolus, the
base of the 5th metatarsal and there [wastenderness over the proximal fibuldd ).
Claimant had a full range of motion in the kneeklanand all digits.Id.). X-ray results
of Claimant’s right ankle “failled] to stw a fracture, dislocation, or definite
abnormality” and the ankle mortise appedrnormal. (Tr. at 266). Accordingly,
Claimant was diagnosed withcute right ankle sprain, and given an air castl an
crutches with instructions to use the air cdsting activity for the next 2-3 weeks, and
return if symptoms worsened. (Tr. at 265).

On May 7, 2008, Claimant received an M& his right ankle, which revealed “no
bone marrow abnormalities” and “no areafscontusion.” (Tr. at 267). There was a
“[sjmall amount of fluid at the ankle joint” and “40 x 11 mm cystic structure at the

posteromedial aspect of the ankle joint,” but itswalifficult to determine if this
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represents extension of joint fluid or if this megpresent an adjacent cyst or ganglion.”
(Id.). The tendons that were visualized appsd intact, but the “anterior talofibular
ligament [was] not well visualized and could be tdnrnid.).

On June 27, 2008, Claimant sought treatment at Medp Family Medicine for
a right hand injury resulting from a fall two dagsior. (Tr. at 275). Claimant reported
constant and persistent moderate hand palri¢ch he “characterized as a dull aching”
that was aggravated by any movemertl.)( Examination of Claimant’s right hand
revealed generalizegwelling and tenderness. (Tr. &76). Otherwise, Claimant’s
physical examination was entirely within noamlimits. (Tr. at 275-76). Claimant was
assessed with a “contusion of hand” and prescribmdab with instructions to rest, ice,
and elevate his hand. (Tr. at 276). On JYyl008, Claimant sought follow-up treatment
from Medpointe for his right hand, which leported “still ha[d] swelling and tons of
pain.” (Tr. at 277). Claimant’s physical @xination revealed generalized swelling and
tenderness of his right hand, but was otheewi®rmal. (Tr. at 277-78). The treating
physician ordered an MRI, gave Claimamt Kenalog injection, and prescribed
Tylenol/ Codeine #3 to him. (Tr. at 278).

On December 4, 2008, the alleged disapitinset date, Claimant was admitted to
Stonewall Jackson Memorial Hospital witobmplaints of hand, back, and neck pain
after he “fell off a stack of railroad ties abiod-5 feet [high] and landed on a piece of
pipe from pump jack and railroad tie” thegmous day. (Tr. at 280). Sitting increased
Claimant’s spinal pain, but he reported “paresthesias/radiating pains in extremities.”
(Tr. at 288). Physical examination ofa&@nhant’s musculoskeleval system revealed
“mildly decreased cervical ROM except decreasecermsion,” but no crepitus and no

step offs; upper lumbar TTP, no stepoffs; TB&ck, no crepitus; and right hand almost
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FROM. (d.). Claimant’s neurological examinah revealed “no ‘burners” and “no
increased pain with axial load.ld.). X-ray results of Claimant’s right hand, rightigf,
lumbar spine, and cervical spine werd megative. (Tr. at 291-94). Accordingly,
Claimant was diagnosed with a right haoahtusion, neck sprain, and lumbar sprain,
and prescribed Tramadol with instructionsade three days off work. (Tr. at 289).

On January 2, 2009, Claimant soughgatment at Medbrook Medical Associates
with complaints of continued low back paimse his work injury on December 3, 2008.
(Tr. at 296-302). Claimant stated that he had bwerking since the accident, and that
the pain seemed to be worse. (Tr. at 3@aimant’s physical examination revealed “no
midline or paravertebral tenderness throughtingt cervical spine” but “[s]tarting at the
top, the thoracic spine ha[d] someffdse midline and paravertebral tenderness
throughout the thoracic spine down to about T4 &t"Tld.). There was also “some
midline paravertebral tenderness throughout thedamspine from L1 through LS3.
(1d.). X-ray results of Claimant’s thoracic sgimrevealed no abnormality. (Tr. at 305).
Claimant was diagnosed with thoracic lumbar spragisen a prescription for Lortab 5,
and scheduled for an MRI of his thoracic and lumbpine. (Tr. at 302). On January 4,
2009, Claimant’s thoracic spine MRI results revelaleo abnormalities, (Tr. at 306),
while his lumbar spine MRI showed “some nfihrly degenerative changes of the lower
facet joints L5-S1 with minimal foraminancroachment slightly more left,” but no
“extruded fragment or significant spinal stenosis”other abnormalities. (Tr. at 307).
Additionally, there were “no radiopaque foreigodies within the orbits.” (Tr. at 309).

On January 6, 2009, Claimant was referred for pdatsiherapy to address his
lumbar thoracic strain. (Tr. at 303, 307). On Jaryul2, 2009, physical therapist John

T. Travis, ATC, MS, PT, conducted an initiavaluation of Claimant. (Tr. at 320-21).
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Claimant complained of “severe mid towoback pain.” (Tr. at 320). Claimant’s
structural examination was “negative fgross deformity or discoloration,” while
palpation revealed “soft tissue tightrse®f the thoracolumbar paraspinalsid.j.
Claimant’s trunk ROM was “decreased 50% secondaryufft tissue tightness and pain.”
(1d.). Claimant’s gait was antalgic, but his extremstyength, upper and lower quarter
neurological screen, and deep tendonenadb were all within normal limitsid.). Mr.
Travis also noted Claimant’s MRI's.Id.). Mr. Travis assessed Claimant with
thoracolumbar sprain and soft tissue ings, and developed a treatment plan for
Claimant to attend physical therapy “twottoree times per week for four to six weeks.”
(Tr. at 321). Claimant attended a total ofefiphysical therapy sessions (January 12, 14,
16, 20, and 21, 2009), after which Mr. Trawas “unable to reach [Claimant] by phone
to reschedule.” (Tr. at 322-23).

On February 20, 2009, Claimant sought a work redelasm Medbrook. (Tr. at
310-13). Claimant’s chief complaint wasrfdack pain, while progress notes reflect
“numbness [in] both shoulders and both arms.” @ir310-11). Claimant was diagnosed
with thoracic strain, (Tr. at 312), and réesd a work release note excusing him from
between January 2, 2009 and February 23, 2009a({1313).

On March 13, 2010, Claimant was admdtéo Pleasant Valley Hospital with
complaints of right knee pain. (Tr. at 332-36).i@lant reported experiencing a painful
knot under his right patella beginning twoydaprior, which was painful with bending,
although there was no redness or instayilfTr. at 332, 335). Claimant’s physical
examination was entirely within normal libsi “with the exception of the right tibia
tuberosity is hypertrophic and tender.” (Tr. at 33EBlaimant was observed to have

“stable anterior/ posterior Draav’s as well as medial andtkral collateral” and “[g]ood
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distal pulses and capillary refill.” (Tr. &35). Claimant was diagnosed with Osgood-
Schlatter disease, prescribed Motrin, andrinsted to apply rest, ice, compression and
elevation, and follow up with himily doctor. (Tr. at 335).

On June 2, 2010, Claimant was admdttéo Pleasant Valley Hospital with
complaints of neck pain, after running a doa¢mwork that day. (Tr. at 325). Claimant
reported that while he was driving the dozer, thep“tof [the] dozer reared up and
slammed back down, jamming” his neck andcka(Tr. at 328). Claimant’s physical
examination revealed that his head/neck fgapple (turns well)” although his muscles
were very tight, and his C-spine, T-spiremd L-spine were tender on palpatioid.].
Otherwise, the examination was within normal limitisl.). X-ray results of Claimant’s
cervical spine, thoracic spine, and lumbar spineeealed “no acute abnormality.” (Tr.
at 329-31). Claimant was diagsed with acute back and neck strain, and provialithl
a work excuse ‘through Sunday” (four daysjth instructions to follow up with an
orthopedic specialist if improvement dhaot occurred by then. (Tr. at 328).

B. Medical Evaluations and RFC Opinions

1. State Agency Physical Evaluations

On August 16, 2010, Alfredo C. Velasquez, M.D. coottd a physical
examination of Claimant. (Tr. at 347-52). Claimargported “[tlhoracolumbar pain
radiating to hips and legs for the last twears and pain in the knees.” (Tr. at 347).
Claimant’s physical examnatiowas essentially within normdimits as to his general
presentation, vital signs, HEENT, neck, he&rtgs, abdomen, and neurological system.
(Tr. at 348-49). Examination of Claimasntback and extremities reflected “slight
tenderness at the lower cervical area.” (Tr3d48). He had full lateral flexion, flexion,

extension, and rotation, although there waggtg pain in the lower cervical area” with
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lateral flexion and extension left and right. (at. 348, 352). Claimant also had “slight
tenderness at the lumbar and thoracolumbar areas’ diminished flexion and
extension to 70° (90° standard) with painthre lumbar area; full lateral flexion to 25°
with pain in the lumbar area; and diminish&daight leg raising to 80° (90° standard),
left and right both supine ansitting with pain in the lumbar area. (Tr. at 34352).
Claimant had full knee flexion and extensionlfs0°, with slight pain at the right knee.
(Tr. at 349, 351). Otherwise, Claimant hadl range of motion without pain as to his
shoulders, elbows, wrists, hands, hips,daankles. (Tr. at 348-49, 351-52). Dr.
Velasquez further noted that Claimant shdad “chronic lumbosacral pain with
occasional pain at the cervical area” andtthis CT scan and spine MRI's have shown
degenerative changes. (Tr. at 349). Based upoexamination, Dr. Velasquez provided
a diagnosis of “thoracolumbar muscle stramd soft tissue injury” and a final diagnosis
of lumbosacral muscle strain with radiculitisld().

On September 13, 2010, consultatiewaluator David Hudkins provided a
Physical RFC opinion of Claimant based updn Velasquez's examination, (Tr. at 353-
60), in which he opined that Claimambuld occasionally lift or carry 50 pounds,
frequently lift or carry 25 pounds, stand awmdMalk (with normal breaks) for a total of
6 hours in an 8-hour workdagjt (with normal breaks) for a total of 6 hoursan 8-
hour workday, and had unlimited ability fush/pull. (Tr. at 354). Claimant had no
postural, manipulative, visuacommunicative, or environmeal limitations. (Tr. at
355-57). The evaluator observed thdalaimant’s recent examination showed
neurological functioning to be within norah limits, and that although his back ROM
was decreased, all other rangesre within normal limits(Tr. at 358). Thus, Claimant

was considered to be “partially credible aflegations but not of listing level” and his
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RFC was reduced accordinglyd().

On December 13, 2010, Amy Wirts, M.D. provided ae&analysis, in which she
reviewed the medical evidence on file arffirsned as written Dr. Hudkins’physical RFC
opinion. (Tr. at 386).

2. State Agency Mental Evaluations

On August 9, 2010, Ernie Vecchio, M. completed a mental evaluation of
Claimant, consisting of a clinical interviemental status examination, and intelligence
testing. (Tr. at 337-44). During the interwig Claimant reported suffering from back
and neck sprain, Osgood Schlatter Diseas®] carpal tunnel in both hands. (Tr. at
338). Regarding presenting symptoms, Claimmandicated that he was “not doing too
bad other than [his] back hurtingoim driving” to the appointment.d.). Claimant
reported that he doesnt cry, he just gatggry, and that his wife tells him this occurs
often. (d.). Claimant admitted to having “thoughtbout hurting [himself], but stated
[that he tries] to stay awaydm that kind of thinking.”ld.). Claimant also reported that
he graduated from high school. He could not rememibke was in special education
classes, but thought that he might have been imthl.).

In his mental status examination, Claimant presént®s a low functioning
individual from Southern WV,” and appearedhe “in physical disomfort sitting.” (Tr.
at 339). Claimant’s affect was consted, thought content was “focused on his
performance,” insight was poor, recent ma&y was moderately deficient, remote
memory was mildly deficient, and concentiatiwas mildly deficient. (Tr. at 339-40).
Otherwise, Claimant’s attitude, social im&etion, speech, orientation, mood, thought
process, perception, judgment, immediatemoey, persistence, pace, and psychomotor

behavior were all within normal limits, and he dediany suicidal/homicidal ideations.
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(1d.). On the WAIS-IV test, Claimant scored 74, 81, &hd 62 for verbal 1Q, verbal
comprehension, perceptual reasoningprking memory, and processing speed,
respectively, while his full scale IQ was assekaé 69. (Tr. at 340-41). On the WRAT-4
achievement test, Claimant’s scores rd#glc word reading, sentence comprehension,
spelling, and math computation skills corresdorg with grade levels 4.8, 4.7, 4.3, and
4.8, respectively. (Tr. at 340). Mr. Vecchamnsidered the test results to “suggest[] a
valid measure of [Claimant’s] abilities,” giveris observed motivation and effort. (Tr. at
341).

Mr. Vecchio diagnosed Claimant with dbderline intellectual functioning” along
Axis I, given that his WAIS-1V “scores werbetween 62 and 81 the higher score the
better indicator of his overall functioning(Tr. at 342). Mr. Vecchio noted that
Borderline Intellectual Functioning is agnosed “when an individual's estimated
intelligence falls between 70 and 89 @nstandardized intelligence testld(). Mr.
Vecchio also characterized Claimant as fuorally illiterate, given his WRAT-4 scores
reflecting approximately a fourth grade readingeleVld.). Mr. Vecchio opined that
Claimant’s prognosis was “pobbut did not elaborateld.).

Claimant reported activities of daily livg consisting of watching his baby while
his wife worked and “mowl[ing] the gss or tinker[ing] out in the yard.ld.). Claimant
reported sleeping poorly due to discomfort and amonmbness. Ifl.). Mr. Vecchio
observed Claimant’s social functioning agithin normal limits, and opined that
Claimant is capable of managing hf;nances given his WAIS-IV and WRAT-4
arithmetic and math scores. (Tr. at 343).

On September 14, 2010, John Todd,.®Phprovided a psychiatric review

technique and mental RFC opinion based upém Vecchio’s evaluation. (Tr. at 361-
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78). Dr. Todd diagnosed Claimant with bortee intellectual functioning, (Tr. at 362),
but concluded that Claimant did not meet ariyhe mental impairment Listings as he
was only mildly limited in his activities of daily livhg and ability to maintain
concentration, persistence, or pace; hadimdtations maintaining social functioning;
and suffered from no episode$ extended decompensatiofir. at 371-72). Dr. Todd
found claimant to be “mostly credible withistory of special education classes, no
history of psych treatment/meds” but gawe weight to Mr. Vecchio’s assessment of
moderate deficiencies in recent memory“ascessive time [was] given for recall (30
min vs 5 min standard), with remainder of MS WNLAdhdef only.” (Tr. at 373). Dr.
Todd noted Claimant’s history of heavy worknd noted that his “ADL’s indicate that
c/ o physical interferes with daily activitiesIt(.).

Regarding Claimant’s mental RFC, Dr. Todd opinedatthClaimant was
“moderately limited” in his abilities to understandemember, and carry out detailed
instructions; but was “not significantly limited”itthh respect to any other functional
capacities relating to understandingnd memory, sustained concentration and
persistence, social interaction, or adapdati(Tr. at 375-76). Dr. Todd further opined
that “Claimant retains the mental capacity 258 step worklike activities.” (Tr. at 377).

On December 6, 2010, Jeff Boggess, Ph.D. provideds® analysis, in which he
noted that there were *[n]Jo new psychllegations or psych based MER upon
reconsideration.” (Tr. at 385). After rewing the evidence on record, Dr. Boggess
affirmed as written Dr. Todd’s mental evaluatio(isl.).

C. New Evidence Accompanying Claimant’s Brief

On May 3, 2012, John Ellison, D.O. conatad a general physical examination of

Claimant at the request of the Westrgihia Department of Health and Human
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Resources Medical Review Team. (ECF .Nfl-1). Claimant listed his customary
occupation as “Timber, Heavy machinery operatiofid. at 1). Claimant reported
experiencing job-related neck and backinpdeginning three years prior, Osgood-
Schlatter disease, hip pain radiaito his knee, and memory los#d ().

Claimant’s physical examination reflecktehat his posture and gait appeared
painful; he had decreased ROM of his neckl dmmbar spine, and bilateral tenderness
of his knees. Id. at 1-2). Dr. Ellison diagnosed @&mant with myofascial pain and
chronic back pain.I¢l. at 2). Dr. Ellison opined that Claimant was noteato work full-
time at his customary occupation or like tkpwas not able to perform other full-time
work, and that he should avoid work that imwed heavy lifting for a period of one year.
(1d.).

Dr. Ellison recommended that Claimaanhdergo further imaging studies of his
lumbar spine and knees, have consultatianth Physical Mediane & Rehabilitation
and Orthopedic specialists, and attend physicatapg. (ECF No. 11-1 at 3). In his
summary of conclusions, Dr. Ellison notedathClaimant had received “no apparent
diagnostic check-up or treatment,” arfido specific pathology” was foundld.). Dr.
Ellison recommended an orthopedic conatilin, and “[i]f negative, recommend|[ed]
physical therapy/work conditioning for possibleuet to work.” (d.).

VI. Scope of Review

The issue before this Court is whethtdre final decision of the Commissioner
denying Claimant’s application for benefiis supported by substantial evidence. The
Fourth Circuit has defined substantial evidence as:

evidence which a reasoning mind wduwdccept as sufficient to support a

particular conclusion. It consists of meothan a mere scintilla of evidence
but may be somewhat less than a preponderancéetktis evidence to
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justify a refusal to direct a verdict wetke case before a jury, then there is
“substantial evidence.”

Blalock, 483 F.2d at 776 (quotingaws v. Celebrezze368 F.2d 640, 642 (4th Cir.
1966)). Additionally, the administrative Ma judge, not the court, is charged with
resolving conflicts in the evidencélays v. Sullivan 907 F.2d 1453, 1456 (4th Cir.
1990). The Court will not re-weigh cdicting evidence, make credibility
determinations, or substitute its judgment for tbbthe Commissioneid. Instead, the
Court’s duty is limited in scope; it mushdhere to its “traditional function” and
“scrutinize the record as a whole to detene whether the conclusions reached are
rational.” Oppenheim v. Finch495 F.2d 396, 397 (4th Cid974). Thus, the ultimate
guestion for the Court is not whether the @laint is disabled, but whether the decision
of the Commissioner that the Claimant istmiasabled is well-grounded in the evidence,
bearing in mind that “[w]here conflicting elence allows reasonable minds to differ as
to whether a claimant is disabled, the respibility for that decision falls on the
[Commissioner]."Walker v. Bowen834 F.2d 635, 640 (7th Cir. 1987).

The Court has considered all of Claimant’s challehgn turn and finds them
unpersuasive. To the contrary, having analyzed tbeonmd as a whole, the Court
concludes that the decision of the Conssioner finding Claimant not disabled is
supported by substantial evidence.

VIl. Analysis

Claimant alleges that the Commissioner’s decisfonat supported by substantial
evidence on the ground that his physieald mental impairments in combination
prevent him from engaging in substantial gainfutiaty. (ECF No. 11 at 5-6). In
support of his position, Claimant argueéksat (1) new and material evidence not

previously submitted to the ALor the Appeals Council “provide[s] an additioralsis
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for a finding of disability,” (ECF No. 11 at 6§2) the ALJ improperly assessed Claimant’s
credibility, (Id. at 7-9); and (3) the ALJ improplgrassessed whether Claimant meets
Listing 12.05C. [d. at 9).

A. New Evidence Provided to the Court

Claimant asserts that the Commissionarécision denying his applications for
benefits is not supported by substantiaidewce in light of Dr. Ellison’s May 2012
physical evaluation, which Claimant submittedh his brief in support of judgment on
the pleadings. (ECF Nos. 11 at 6; 11-Olaimant contends that this report, when
combined with the rest of the record, warraatfinding of disability in his case. (ECF
No. 11 at 6).

The Court may remand the Commissioner’s decision dorehearing under
sentence four or sentence six of 42 U.S.C. 8§ 405fgsentence four remand is
appropriate when the Commissioner’s decis®not supported by substantial evidence,
the Commissioner incorrectly applies the lawamhreaching the decision, or the basis of
the Commissioner’s decision is indiscernibBrown v. AstrueCase No. 8:11-03151-
RBH-JDA, 2013 WL 625599 (D.S.C. Jan. 31, 2013) aedns omitted). If new and
material evidence is submitted after the ALJ’s dem, the Appeals Council:

shall consider the additional evidence only whdreeiates to the period

on or before the date of the administrative lawgedhearing decision. The

Appeals Council shall evaluate themtire record including the new and

material evidence submitted if it relatéo the period on or before the date

of the administrative law judge heagrdecision. It will then review the

case if it finds that the administiige law judge's action, findings, or

conclusion is contrary to the weight of the eviderarrently of record.

20 C.F.R 404.970(b). When the Appea®uncil incorporates new and material

evidence into the administrative record,danevertheless denies review of the ALJ’s

findings and conclusions, the issue befdahe Court is whether the Commissioner’s
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decision is supported by substantial evidemckght of “the record as a whole including
any new evidence that the Appeals Council spedificancorporated into the
administrative record.Meyer v. Astrug662 F.3d 700, 704 (4th Cir. 2011) (remanding
for rehearing pursuant to sentencerfof 42 U.S.C. 8§ 405(g)) (quotingilkins v. Secy,
Dept of Health and Human Sery€953 F.2d 93, 96 (4th €i1991) (internal marks
omitted)). If the ALJ’s decision is flawefbr any of the reasons stated, the Court may
remand the matter for a rehearing under sentenaoezfo

On the other hand, sentence six agplto a remand based upon new and
material evidence supplied to the Couthich was not submitted to the ALJ or the
Appeals Council and was not considered iaaleing the Commissioner’s final disability
decision.Cameron v. AstrueNo. 7:10CV00058, 2011 WL 2945817, at *7 (W.D. Vauly
21, 2011) (“Sentence six applies specificatlyevidence not incorgated into the record
by either the ALJ or the Appeals Council.”). Thethki sentence of 42 U.S.C. § 405(Q)
provides that the Court “may at any timeder additional evidence to be taken before
the Commissioner of Social Security, but onfyon a showing that #re is new evidence
which is material and that there is goeduse for the failure to incorporate such
evidence into the record in a prior proceeding.42 U.S.C. 8 405(g). Remand to the
Commissioner on the basis of newly discovered evideis appropriate if four
prerequisites are met:

(1) the evidence must be relevant to the determamadf disability at the

time the application(s) was first filed2) the evidence must be material to

the extent that the Commissioner's decision migiasonably have been

different had the new evidence beerfdre him; (3) there must be good
cause for the claimant's failure tolsuit the evidence when the claim was

2 Sentence four allows the court tenter, upon the pleadings and transcript of theord, a judgment
affirming, modifying, or reversing the decision ife Commissioner of Social Security, with or withou
remanding the cause for a rehisay.” 42 U.S.C. § 405(Q).
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before the Commissioner; and (4) tltaimant must make at least a
general showing of the nature of thew evidence to the reviewing court.

Miller v. Barnhart, 64 F. Appx 858, 859-06 (4th Cir. 20033ee also42 U.S.C. §
405(g);Borders v. Heckler777 F.2d 954, 955 (4th Cir. 1985).

Here, Claimant has made no effort demonstrate that the additional medical
evaluation by Dr. Ellison satisfies the reqtescriteria. (ECF No. 11 at 6). Certainly,
Claimant has made a general showing of the natitkeonew evidence by attaching it
to his brief. (ECF No. 11-1)However, he fails to ¢ablish the remaining three
prerequisites. Although Claimant reportedtthis neck and back pain began three years
prior, the actual physical examination andrdpn regarding Claimant’s ability to work
relates only to his condition dhe time of the examination|d. at 1), which occurred
two years after Claimant’s initial applications foenefits, and over six months after the
ALJ’s decision. (Tr. at 9, 134).

Even assuming the additional evaluatioras relevant to th applicable time
period, it would not reasonably have afleedtthe Commissioner’s decision. First, Dr.
Ellison’s objective findings of decreased raradenotion in Claimant’s neck and back, as
well as observations of pain in his neck, back, &nde, (ECF No. 11-1 at 2), are largely
duplicative of Dr. Velasquez's examination findingSlr. at 348-49). Second, Dr.
Ellison’s statement that Claimant is unalbéeperform other full-time work beyond his
customary occupation, (ECF No. 11-1), is apinion on an issue reserved to the
Commissioner, and therefore not entitled to anycgesignificance. 20 C.F.R. 88
404.1527(d)416.927(d) Notably, Dr. Ellison does not offer an explanatio support of
the statement, other than to suggestttiClaimant should avoid heavy lifting.
Furthermore, Dr. Ellison’s opinion is eouwical. He advises that the duration of

Claimant’s work restriction is “pendingan evaluation by a Physical Medicine &
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Rehabilitation specialist and an Orthopsid and notes that Claimant has had no
apparent diagnostic work-up or treatment, and ncudoented pathology. (ECF No. 11-1
at 2-3). Therefore, Dr. Ellison recommends thah# orthopedic evaluation is negative,
Claimant should receive physical therapyd job conditioning for “possible return to
work.” (1d).

Dr. Ellison’s report, when taken as a @lf, is not inconsistent with the ALJ’s
decision. When making the RFC determinatiome ALJ limited Claimant to light level
exertional work with other non-exertionalsteictions, noting that Claimant was “more
limited than originally thought” by the statagency consultantssho had opined that
Claimant was able to perform medium lewadrk under 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1567, 416.967.
(Tr. at 21, 354). Like Dr. Ellison, the ALfound that Claimant could not perform his
prior work duties and needed to avoid heavy liftirigpwever, the ALJ had the benefit of
additional evidence that was not availablelia Ellison, who apparently saw Claimant
on one occasion, and without access to gri®r treatment records and x-ray results.
The ALJ found that the objective medical findingdich Dr. Ellison hachot reviewed,
simply did not support Claimant’s contentidghat he was disabled from all types of
work activity. Thus, it is unlikely that # ALJ would have given much weight to Dr.
Ellison’s summary opinions as they wereatly not based on all of the evidence.

Moreover, Claimant has not demonstrated good cdaoiséis failure to submit
Dr. Ellison’s evaluation when his claim waefore the Commissioner. Claimant’s new
evaluation occurred on May 2, 2012, whhés claim was pending review before the
Appeals Council. The Appeals Council did ni¢ny review of the ALJ’s decision until
seven months later, on December 17, 2013in€ant offers no explanation as to why he

failed to submit the evaluation to eéhAppeals Council, and therefore has not
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demonstrated good cause for the delay.

Accordingly, remand is not appropriate tire basis of Claimant’s new evidence.

B. Determination of Claimant’s Credibility

Claimant contends that the ALJ impropedysessed his credibility. (ECF No. 11
at 6-9). He argues the ALJ failed to apply the eatrlegal standard for assessing
credibility and failed to adequately artiate the reasons for discounting Claimant’s
credibility. (Id.). Having carefully reviewed the Al's decision, the Court affirms the
ALJ’s credibility determination.

Pursuant to the Regulations, the ALJ enxatkes a claimant’s report of symptoms
using a two-step method. 20 C.F.R. 88§ 404.1529, £1.Birst, the ALJ must determine
whether the claimant’s medically determainle medical and psychological conditions
could reasonably be expected to prodthee claimant’s symptaos, including painld. 8§
404.1529(a), 416.929(a). That is, a claimafdt@mtements about his or her symptoms is
not enough in itself to establish the existenta physical or mental impairment or that
the individual is disabled.” SSR 96-7p, 19%4. 374186, at *2. Instead, there must exist
some objective “Im]edical signs and labtoey findings, established by medically
acceptable clinical or laboratory diagstic techniques” which demonstrate ‘“the
existence of a medical impairment(s) whiclsu#s from anatomical, physiological, or
psychological abnormalities and which could readdpde expected to produce the
pain or other symptoms alleged.” 20 C.F88.404.1529(b), 416.929(b).

Second, after establishing that the claimant’s ¢oods could be expected to
produce the alleged symptoms, the ALJ masaluate the intensity, persistence, and
severity of the symptoms tdetermine the extent to whicthey prevent the claimant

from performing basic work activitiedd. 88 404.1529(a), 416.929(a). If the intensity,
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persistence or severity of the symptomannot be established by objective medical
evidence, the ALJ must assess the credibditgny statements mads the claimant to
support the alleged disabling effects. SSR $6-1996 WL 374186, at *2. In evaluating a
claimant’s credibility regarding his or haymptoms, the ALJ will consider “all of the
relevant evidence,” including (1) the claimant’s aaal history, signs and laboratory
findings, and statements from the claimangatting sources, and non-treating sources.
20 C.F.R. 88 404.1529(c)(1), 416.929(c)(12) objective medical evidence, which is
obtained from the application of medicallgaeptable clinical and laboratory diagnostic
techniquesld. 88 404.1529(c)(2), 416.929(c)(2); and (3) any oteéedence relevant to
the claimant’s symptoms, sudms evidence of the claimant's daily activities, Gpe
descriptions of symptoms (location, dumatj frequency and intensity), precipitating
and aggravating factors, medication or dioal treatment and resulting side effects
received to alleviate symptoms, and any otfextors relating to functional limitations
and restrictions due to the claimant’s symptoras.88 404.1529(c)(3), 416.929(c)(3);
see also Craig v. Cathe76 F.3d 585, 595 (4th Cir. 1996); SSA 96-7P, 1996 374186,
at *4-5. InHines v. Barnhartthe Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals stated that:

Although a claimant’s allegations abt her pain may not be discredited

solely because they are not substantag objective evidence of the pain

itself or its severity, they need ndte accepted to the extent they are

inconsistent with the available evides including objective evidence of

the underlying impairment, and the extent to whtblat impairment can

reasonably be expected to cause the pain the ctaimlieges he suffers.
453 F.3d at 565 n.3 (citin@raig, 76 F.3d at 595)The ALJ may not reject a claimant’s
allegations of intensity and persistence oleecause the available objective medical

evidence does not substantiate the allegatidrowever, the lack of objective medical

evidence may be one factor considered by the ASR 86-7P, 1996 WL 374186, at *6.
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Social Security Ruling 96-7p providdarther guidance on how to evaluate a
claimant’s credibility. For example, “[o]nstrong indication of the credibility of an
individual’'s statements is their consistenbgpth internally and wh other information
in the case recordld. at *5. Likewise, a longitudinal medical record fcée extremely
valuable in the adjudicator’s evaluation of aaividual's statements about pain or other
symptoms,” as “[v]ery often, this informian will have been obtained by the medical
source from the individual and may be com@amwith the individual’s other statements
in the case record.td. at *6-7. A longitudinal medical record demonstrajithe
claimant’s attempts to seek and follow tre&im for symptoms also “lends support to an
individual’s allegations. . . for the purposekjudging the credibility of the individual's
statements.ld. at *7. On the other hand, “the individuals statemis may be less
credible if the level or frequency of datment is inconsistent with the level of
complaints.”ld. Ultimately, the ALJ “must consider the entire casxord and give
specific reasons for the weight given to the indual’'s statementsld. at *4. Moreover,
the reasons given for the ALJ’s credibility assessm “must be grounded in the
evidence and articulated in tldetermination or decision.” SS¥6-7p, 1996 WL 374186,
at *4.

When considering whether an ALJ’s credibility detenations are supported by
substantial evidence, the Court does noplaee its own credibility assessments for
those of the ALJ; rather, the Court scrutinizes ¢Wiglence to determine if it is sufficient
to support the ALJ’s conclusions. In revieng the record for substantial evidence, the
Court does not re-weigh conflicting evideneeach independent determinations as to
credibility, or substitute its own judgment for thaf the CommissioneHays 907 F.2d

at 1456. Because the ALJ had the “opportunity teseolbe the demeanor and to
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determine the credibility of the claimanthe ALJ’s observations concerning these
guestions are to be given great weigt8Hively v. Heckler739 F.2d 987, 989 (4th Cir.
1984).

Here, the ALJ provided an overview of Claimant’stiemony, (Tr. at 19), which he
then compared to the relevant medical eviceeand consultative evaluations, in order
to assess Claimant’s credibility. (Tr. at9-21). The ALJ found that Claimant’s
impairments could reasonably be expecteddase the symptoms he alleged, but that
Claimant’s statements concerning the intenggrsistence and limiting effects of these
symptoms were only partially credible. (Tat 20). The ALJ observed that Claimant’s
claims of disabling symptoms were inconsist with his continuedctivities of daily
living, (Tr. at 20), which included carin@@r his four-year old daughter while his wife
was at work, household chores, yard worlqgaary shopping, and personal hygiene. (Tr.
at 46-49). Claimant also testified to beindeato drive about an hour without needing to
take a break. (Tr. at 42). The ALJ also fauthat Claimant’s purported memory deficits
were selectively displayed, noting that rthug the hearing he claimed not to recall
whether he had been in special educationethler he had received physical therapy, or
even whether he had received worker’s ce@mgation benefits. In contrast, Claimant
was able to provide details regardings prior injuries and had no problem
remembering and reporting to Dr. Velasquihat he had recedd a 5% permanent
partial disability finding. (Tr. at 21, 347).

Furthermore, the ALJ observed that there “is litlgective evidence to support
the claimant’s subjective allegation of totakdbility.” (Tr. at 21). Despite experiencing
“knee pain with prolonged strenuous activities,ai@hiant was “able to move about in a

satisfactory manner.” (Tr. at 21). Additially, there is nominal evidence of medical
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treatment for Claimant’s neck and back paand Claimant has not had physical therapy
or work hardening. (Tr. at 21). The ALJ noted Claimi’s allegations of lack of insurance
and financial difficulty, but observed that “theeare programs to enable an individual to
obtain medical treatment free or at low toand that “[tlhere is no evidence the
claimant has made any attempt to avaimbelf of such programs.” (Tr. at 21).
Accordingly, the ALJ found Claimant’s “testony to be exaggerated and not very
credible.” (Tr. at 21).

Claimant finds it “difficult to understad how the [ALJ] concluded that Plaintiff
can perform light and sedentary work” wmew of objective medical evidence of
Claimant’s neck and back problems. (ECF Nbat 8). Claimant argues that the physical
examination of Dr. Velasquez, as well 8. Vecchio’s observations of Claimant’s
conduct constitute objective evidence subsiaimg Claimant’s allegations of disabling
impairments. (ECF No. 11 at 6). Looking firat Mr. Vecchio’s mental evaluation, the
undersigned notes that Mr. Vecchio did notlenate the affect of Claimant’s physical
impairments on his ability to work. He mady observed that Claimant appeared
“cooperative and in physical discomfort &itg.” (Tr. at 339). This observation alone
hardly demonstrates that Claimant wasable to perform light and sedentary work,
particularly given that he reported daily actigs to Mr. Vecchio that included caring for
his child while his wife workedmowing grass, and tinkering around in the yafd. at
342). Additionally, while Dr. Velasquez'sphysical evaluation reflects medically
determinable impairments relating to Clainta back and neck, it does not support
Claimant’s testimony of disabling symptono$ impairments. (Tr. at 347-52). Indeed,
based upon Dr. Velasquez's findings, a stagency consultant praded a physical RFC

opinion which would only have limited Claimaba “moderate” level work, (Tr. at 354),
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and was subsequently affrmed as written &gecond consultative physician. (Tr. at
386). Although the ALJ gave “great weight” the state agency experts, he ultimately
limited Claimant to “light” level work, an@dded additional postural and environmental
limitations, *“which allow for many of [Claimant’s] subjective complaints and
limitations.” (Tr. at 21-22).

In short, it is clear that the ALJ condecdt a thorough analysis of the relevant
evidence, appropriately weighed the medisalirce opinions, and provided a logical
reason for discounting the credibility of Glaant’s statements regarding the intensity,
persistence, and limiting effects of hisnsgtoms, in accordance with the applicable
Regulations. Notwithstanding two expert opinionsading Claimant capable of
performing work at a medium exertionkdvel, the ALJ reduced Claimant’s RFC to
account for those subjective limitationsathwere supported by the evidence.

Other errors Claimant assigns to the A_dfedibility determination are likewise
meritless. Claimant argues that undere ttmutually supportive test” recognized in
Coffman v. Bowen829 F.2d 514 (4th Cir. 1987), teatisfies the requirements of 42
U.S.C. 8 423(d)(5)(A) because his testimaesysupported by objective medical source
findings. (ECF No. 11 at 7). Clmiant misinterprets the holding @offman.There, the
issue was not whether the ALJred in assessing the claimant’s credibility, butetter
the ALJ applied the appropriate legal stantian weighing the treating physician’s
opinion that the claimant wasséibled from gainful employmen€offman 829 F.2d at
517-18. The Fourth Circuit found that the Alhad misapplied the relevant standard by
discounting the physician’s opinion due toethlleged lack of corroborating evidence,
when the correct standard was to give the opinioeag weightunless persuasive

contradictory evidence was present in the recadd.at 518. The Fourth Circuit then
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pointed out that evidence gporting the physician’s opinig in fact, existed in the
record, noting “[b]Jecause Coffman’s complaints amd attending physician’s findings
were mutually supportive, they would satisfyeavthe more exacting standards of. . . 42
U.S.C. 8§ 423(d)(5)(A).1d. Coffmanoffers no applicable “té5for assessing a claimant’s
credibility and, consequently, is inapposifs the written decision in the present case
plainly reflects, the ALJ applied the corrdeto-step process in determining Claimant’s
credibility.

Claimant also contends that the ALJ’s use of “baqulate” credibility language
warrants remand on the ground that such languagevipes nobasis to determine
what weight the [ALJ] gave the Plaintiffs testimph (ECF No. 11 at 9). It is well
established that “ALJ's have a duty texplain the basis of their credibility
determinations, particularly where paiand other nonexertional disabilities are
involved.”Long v. United States Dapf Health and Human Sery$No. 88-3651, 1990
WL 64793, at *2 n.5 (4th Cir. May 1, 1990). Socidcurity Ruling 96-7p instructs that
“Iwlhen evaluating the credibility of an dividual's statements, the adjudicator must
consider the entire case record and give gpgemasons for the weight given to the
individuals statements.” SSR6-7p, 1996 WL 374186, at4. Moreover, the ALJ’s
credibility finding “cannot be based on an intangilor intuitive notion about an
individual’s credibility.” Id. Rather, the reasons given for the ALJ's credipilit
assessment “must be grounded in the evidearo# articulated in the determination or
decision.”ld. Thus, a “bare conclusion that [a cteant’s] statements lack credibility
because they are inconsistent with the abogsidual functional capacity assessment’
does not discharge the duty to explaiddtofski v. AstrugCivil No. SKG-09-981, 2010

WL 3655541, at *9 (D. Md. Sept. 14, 201&ee also Stewart v. AstruAction No. 2:11-
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cv-597, 2012 WL 6799723, at *15 n.15 (E..VDec. 20, 2012). To the contrary, the
decision “must contain specific reasons foetimding on credibility, supported by the

evidence in the case record, and mustshéficiently specific to make clear to the
individual and to any subsequent reviewethe weight the adjudicator gave to the
individual’s statements and the reasons for thage” SSR96-7p, 1996 WL 374186, at

*4,

The ALJ admittedly used “boilerplate” langge in finding that “the claimant’s
statements concerning the intensity, persiseeand limiting effects of these symptoms
are not credible to the extent they are inconsisteith the residual functional capacity
assessment.” (Tr. at 20). However, the ALJ dat stop his analysis with only that bare
conclusion. As discussed above, the ALJ wentto explain that Claimant’s ongoing
activities of daily living, his inconsistendisplays of memory loss, and his lack of
treatment history, all tended to undermine his dvéidy. (Tr. 20-21). The ALJ’s
credibility finding was sufficiently articukleed, as he explained his rationale with
references to the specific evidence that informiesddiecision.

Consequently, the Court finds that the ALJ followegde proper agency
procedures in assessing Claimant’s credypdnd weighing medical source opinions.

C. Equivalence to Listing 12.05C

Claimant argues that the ALJ “shouldveamore fairly evaluated the Plaintiff's
condition under Listing of Impairment 12.05C.” (EG. 11 at 10). Section 12.00 of the
Listing pertains to Mental Disorders, whiehre arranged in nine diagnostic categories,
including listing 12.05 (mental retardation). Z0F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. P, Appx 18 12.00
(2013).According to the regulations:

The structure of the listing for mental retardatid2.05) is different from
that of the other mental disordetistings. Listing 12.05 contains an
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introductory paragraph with the afjnostic description for mental

retardation. It also contains four sets of critgiparagraphs Athrough D).

If [a claimant’s] impairment satisfeethe diagnostic description in the

introductory paragraph and any onetbé four sets of criteria, [the SSA]

will find that [the] impairment meets the listirfg.
Id. The diagnostic description for “mental retlation” is “significantly subaverage
general intellectual functioning with deficits imaptive furctioning initially manifested
during the developmental period, i.e., the evidedeemonstrates or supports onset of
the impairment before age 22.” 20 C.F.R. Part 484hpart P, Appx 18 12.05. Once the
claimant has established intellectual dysfuorctmeeting the diagnostic description, he
can demonstrate the requisite level of seyeuinder paragraph C by showing a “valid
verbal, performance, or full scale IQ of @rough 70 and a physical or other mental
impairment imposing an additional asdynificant work-related limitation of function.”
Id. § 12.05C. Thus, to be disabled under ligtt2.05C, the claimant must meet all three
“prongs” of the criteria: (1) deficits in adéipe functioning initially manifested during
the developmental period; i.e., the evidembemonstrates or supports onset of the
impairment before age 22; (2) a valid verbal, perfance, or full scale IQ of 60 to 70;
and (3) a physical or other mental impairmiemposing an additional and significant
work-related limitation of functionHancock v. Astrue667 F.3d 470, 473 (4th Cir.
2012).

1. Diagnostic Description (Prong 1)
In the instant case, the ALJ determingldat Claimant did not satisfy the

diagnostic description for listing 12.05 becausé¢]h§re is no evidence of record

indicating that the claimant suffers frosignificantly subaveraggeneral intellectual

3 Subsequent to the ALJ’s decision and the filinglof instant action, the SSAreplaced the term “takn
retardation” with “intellectual disability,” effedte September 3, 2013. 78 Fed. Reg. 46,499-46,501 (Aug.
1, 2013). This change “does not affect the actuatiival definition of the disorder or available prams

or service.ld. at 46,500.
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functioning with deficits in adaptive futioning initially manifested during the
developmental period, as required by Section 12.85d specifically that “[t]here is no
evidence of record to reflect that the clamidas impaired intellectual functioning prior
to the age of 22.” (Tr. at 17). Claimant ackmedges that he lacks a valid 1Q score that
“predates the age of 22,” but argues that it iag@nable to surmise that [his] mental
limitation existed prior to [his] 22nd birtlked by reviewing [his] school records and
class rank of 73rd out of 81 students.” (ENB. 11 at 10). In the alternative, Claimant
argues that the Listing language requiringdewnce of impairment onset before age 22
“should not be dispositive in this caseld)).

First, Claimant’s argument that failure satisfy the diagnostic criteria for listing
12.05C “should not be dispositive” is plaintyeritless. A determination of disability may
be made at step three of the sequentialieatadn if a claimant's impairments meet or
medically equal an impairment included irethisting. 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(a)(4)(iii),
416.920(a)(4)(iii). The purpose of the Listingts describe “for each of the major body
systems, impairments [which are] considelf[sdvere enough to prevent a person from
doing any gainful activity.” 1d. 88 404.152%), 416.925(a). Because the Listing is
designed to identify those individuals wleomedical impairments are so severe that
they would likely be found disabled regdeds of their vocational background, the SSA
has intentionally set the medical criteriafideng the listed impairments at a higher
level of severity than that required to meet tha&tstory standard of disabilityullivan
v. Zebley 493 U.S. 521, 532, 110 S.Ct. 885, 10FEd.2d 967 (1990). “For a claimant to
show that his impairment matches a listing, it mostetall of the specified medical
criteria.” Id. at 530 (emphasis in originalsee also Bennett v. Bow,eNo. 88-3166,

1989 WL 100665, at *4 (4th Cir. 1989) (ueing “the proposition that ‘close counts in

-31-



horseshoes’as well as the Listings”).

Second, the ALJ’s determination thatahant did not satisfy the diagnostic
criteria is supported by substantial eviderose the record. The diagnostic criteria for
listing 12.05 requires a showing of “sidgicantly subaverage general intellectual
functioning with deficits in adaptive futioning initially manifested during the
developmental period, i.e., the evidendemonstrates or supports onset of the
impairment before age 22.” 20 C.F.R. Part 404, SubpP, Appx 1 8 12.05. This
description of “mental retardation” is “consgstt with, if not identical to, the definitions
of [mental retardation] used by the leading proifesal organizations.” Technical
Revisions to Medical Criteria for Determinanie of Disability, 67 Fed. Reg. 20018-01,
at 20022 (April 24, 2002).

According to the DSM-1V, ‘“significarly subaverage general intellectual
functioning is defined as an IQ of about @ below,” with 1Q levels of 50-55 to
approximately 70 corresponding with “mild mentaltaedation.” Diagnostic and
Statistical Manual of Mental Disorde(®SM-IV-TR) at 41-42 (4th ed., text revision,
American Psychiatric Association, 2000)in contrast, “borderline intellectual
functioning” is associated with I@@vels in the 71 to 84 rang#d. at 740. However, the
DSM-IV cautions that “there is a measurement erobrapproximately 5 points in
assessing 1Q,” and thus ‘it is possible dmgnose Mental Retardation in individuals
with 1Qs between 70 and 75 who exhibitgsificant deficits in adaptive behavior.
Conversely, Mental Retardatiowould not be diagnosed ian individual with an 1Q
lower than 70 if there are no significant deficitw impairments in adaptive
functioning.”ld. Furthermore, “[w]lhen there is sigiént scatter in the subtest scores,

the profile of strengths and weaknesses, rathen tthee mathematically derived full-
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scale 1Q, will more accurately reflect the pens learning abilities. When there is a
marked discrepancy across verbal and performanoeescaveraging to obtain a full-
scale IQ score can be misleadinigl” at 42.

Therefore, several courts have found tlatliagnosis of borderline intelligence
“can demonstrate that a claimant with 1Q scoresarndd does not meet the listing
where the diagnosis is based on lackdafficits in adaptive functioning.Miller v.
Astrue No. Civ No. 4:07-cv-2611, 2008 WL 80534 7at *4 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 8, 2008);
see, e.g., Cox v. Astru495 F.3d 614, 618-19 (8th Cir. 200%)est v. Comm'r of Soc.
Sec, 240 Fed. Appx. 692, 698 (6th Cir. 200Arce v. Barnhart185 Fed. Appx. 437,
438 (5th Cir. 2006)Thomas v. AstrueCivil Action No. 1:07cv00022, 2008 WL
2169015, at *15 (W.D. Va. May 23, 2008) (fimdy the claimant’s borderline intelligence
diagnosesinter alia, to be substantial evidence that she did not nlisehg 12.05C);
Bouton v. AstrueNo. 07-4039-JAR, 2008 WL 627469, at *6-7 (D. Katar. 4, 2008).

The SSA has declined to further specify what caosts “deficits in adaptive
functioning initially manifested during the delopmental period,” instead preferring to
“allow[ ] use of any of the measurement methodsogegzed and endorsed by the
professional organizations” for defining mental metation. Id. For example, under
DSM-1V, deficits in adaptive functioning can incladimitations in skill areas such as
“‘communication, self-care, home living, social/inpersonal skills, use of community
resources, self-direction, functional academkdls, work, leisure, health, and safety.”
Id.; see alsaJackson v. Astrue467 F. App’x 214, 218 (4th Cir. 2012) (citingtkins v.
Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 309 n.3, 122 S.QR42, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002)).

Claimant argues that his school recokmonstrate that his mental limitation

existed prior to his 22nd birthday. Howevé&laimant’s school records consist only of
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an immunization sheet and a high school transc(ipt. at 170-71). As the ALJ noted,
Claimant’s grades ranged from A's to F’'s,cathere is “no notation of special education.”
(Tr. at 20). Although Claimant points toshclass rank of 73rd out of 81 students, the
undersigned observes that Claimantsadges were considerably better and fairly
unremarkable during the first half of higgthool, with the bulkof his failing grades
occurring in the final three semesters. (at. 170). The transcript does not reflect
Claimant’s attendance, so ig impossible to determine ifeasons other than mental
limitations caused the decline in Claimangisades. Nonetheless, the transcript suggests
that circumstances unrelated to Claimanitgellectual abilities contributed to his
worsening academic performance. For instance, Gainreceived a grade of “B” in
English 9, English 10, and English 11. (Tr.180). Despite this consistent performance
in English classes during the first threeaye of high school, Claimant inexplicably
received a grade of “D-"in English 12d().

Even assuming, as Claimant urges, that his trapsaould be construed as
evincing adaptive deficits, there is motlean substantial evidence on the record to
support the ALJ’s determination that Claimadhdes not satisfy the diagnostic criteria.
As an example, Claimant’s work history verifies thee was capable of functioning
adequately in occupations requiring speaidi skills and technical knowledge. His
duties at Babcock Lumber required him to build astdhck trusses. (Tr. at 223).
Claimant also operated heavy equipment,undahg a de-barker and loader. (Tr. at 225).
When Claimant worked for a steam-cleaning compamysupervised 3-10 employees on
the job, and was required to prepare reports.4dT227). These duties demonstrate that
Claimant could manage the social, conceptaald practical demands of everyday life.

Thus, they provide further evidence th@&taimant’s adaptive functioning was not

-34 -



significantly impaired.

Although Claimant received a Full Scdl@ score of 69 on the WAIS-1V test, his
accompanying subtest scores for verbal poehension, perceptual reasoning, working
memory, and processing were 74, 81, &hd 62, respectively, and consultative
psychologist Mr. Vecchio observed that “thegher score [was] the better indicator of
his overall functioning.” (Tr. at 340-42Accordingly, Mr. Vecchio diagnosed Claimant
with Borderline Intellectual Functioning, as oppds® Mental Retardation, despite the
fact that Claimant was considered “functidigailliterate” due to his fourth grade
reading level. Id.). Additionally, Mr. Vecchio obsmed that Claimant’s social
functioning was within normdimits and that he was capable of managing hisrfires.
(Tr. at 344-43).

In his psychiatric review technique, Drodd agreed with Mr. Vecchio’s diagnosis
of Borderline Intellectual Function, but gaveo weight to Mr. Vecchio’s findings of
moderate deficiencies in recent memorydafurther noted that Claimant’s physical
complaints interfere with his daily activitiesut he is otherwise capable of performing
them independently. (Tr. at 373). Accordipngin his mental RFC opinion, Dr. Todd
opined that Claimant was not significantlynlited in any capacity, other than his ability
to understand, remember, and carry out dedainstructions. (Tr. at 375). The ALJ
accorded great weight to Dr. Todd’s opinion@r. at 21), and Claimant offers no
argument or evidence in support of further menitaltiations.

Furthermore, aside from Claimant’s lone high schtranscript, the record is
essentially void of any other evidence of @& in adaptive functioning. Consistent with
his own Adult Function Report, (Tr. at 214)2Claimant testified at the administrative

hearing almost exclusively to limitations due toypital impairments. (Tr. at 34-51).
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Claimant’s description of actities of daily living reflect tlat he is capable of self-care
and caring for his daughter, and that hisnteoliving, with the exception of managing
household finances, is only limited by his plegd impairments. (Tr. at 46-48). There is
no evidence of Claimant having difficids in communication, social/interpersonal
skills, or use of community resources, and in fiélct Vecchio observed that Claimant’s
social functioning was within normal limits. (Trt 842). As with his activities of daily

living, Claimant’s work, leisure, health, arséfety appear limited primarily due to pain
and other physical impairments. (Tr. at 34-51, 8-

In light of Mr. Vecchio’s evaluationDr. Todd’s consultative opinions, and the
overall paucity of evidence reflecting any deficite adaptive functioning, the ALJ’s
determination that Claimant did not meet thiagnostic criteria for 12.05C is supported
by substantial evidence on the record, nithatanding his high school transcript.

2. Paragraph Ccriteria (Prongs 2 and 3)

Claimant asserts that his “impairmendl®sely approach Listing of Impairment
12.05C,” in that he satisfies the “paragraph Cteria because he has a Full Scale 1Q
score of 69 and severe physical impairments comgjséf Osgood-Schlatter disease of
the right knee and obesity. (ECF No. 11%t0). However, the ALJ found that the
“paragraph C”requirements of 12.05 weret moet “because the claimant does not have
a valid verbal, performance, or full scale 6 60 through 70 and a physical or other
mental impairment imposing an additional and sigaifit work-related limitation of
function ... [and] [t]here is no evidence oé&cord to reflect that the claimant has
impaired intellectual functioning prior to the e@f 22.” (Tr. at 17). It is not entirely
clear if the ALJ intendedo find that Claimant failed to siafy Prong 2 (valid IQ of 60 to

70), Prong 3 (additional impairment imposismnificant limitation), or both, or if he
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primarily based his conclusion on the lack efidence showing deficits of adaptive
functioning prior to age 22.

Regarding the second prong, the FourthcCit Court of Appeals has held that
“an ALJ has the discretion to assess the validitan 1Q test result and is not required
to accept it even ifit is the only such resulttire record.Hancock 667 F.3d at 474. In
Hancock v. Astruethe Fourth Circuit affrmed the ALd'decision to discredit the only
IQ scores on record, where “the ALJ relied on tlxaminer’s omission [of comment as
to the 1Q scores’ validity] as well as thestdts’ inconsistency with both the claimant’s
actual functioning and with the notes of treatiryghiatrists.’ld. at 475. Arguably, the
ALJ here might have rejectethe validity of Claimant’s Full Scale 1Q score, giv that
Mr. Vecchio diagnosed Claimant with “bordime intellectual functioning,” which is a
diagnosis that is “made when an individuastimated intelligence falls between 70 and
89 on a standardized intelligence tesafid noted that “[Claimant’s] scores were
between 62 and 81 the higher score the better atdicof his overall functioning.” (Tr.
at 342). The difficulty here is that if the ALJ erided to reject Claimant’s IQ score, he
did so without any explanation, and degpir. Vecchio’s indication that the test
findings “are based on [Claimant’s] motivati and effort, both within normal limits,
and suggests a valid measure of his abilities.” 6[1341).

Regarding the third prong, the Social Seturegulations explain that the degree
of functional limitation imposed by thedditional impairment must be assessed to
determine if it significantly limits the clainmda’s physical or mental ability to do basic
work activities, “i.e., is a ‘severe’ impanent(s), as defined in 88 404.1520(c) and
416.920(c).” 20 C.F.R. Pt. 404, Subpt. Rppx 1 § 12.00. Thusif the additional

impairment does not result in limitationsathare “severe’as defined in 88 404.1520(c)
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and 416.920(c),” the SSA will find that ddional impairment does not impose “an
additional and significant work-related limitati of function,” even if the claimant is
unable to do past work becausetbe unique features of that workd. The Fourth
Circuit Court of Appeals also acknowledgtsat an additional severe impairment or
combination of impairments will establistine third prong of section 12.05C, as “the
Secretary has defined a severe impairment or coatltin of impairments as those
which significantly limit an individual's physal or mental ability to do basic work
activities.”Luckey v. United States peof Health & Human Servs890 F.2d 666, 669
(4th Cir. 1989); Berry v. Astrue No. 3:10-cv-00430, 2011 WL 2462704, at *14
(S.D.W.V. Jun. 17, 2011). Because the Afaund that Claimant’s Osgood-Schlatter
Disease of the right knee and obesity were sew@pairments, he appears to satisfy the
third prong of listing 12.05C.

Nevertheless, even if the ALJ erred by failing teacly explain why Claimant did
not satisfy the “Paragraph C” criteria, du error is harmless given that the ALJ’'s
determination that Claimant did not me#te diagnostic description for “mental
retardation” was supported by substane&idence. Moreover, the ALJ accounted for
Claimant’s intellectual limitatins by restricting him to occupations that requiady
two to three simple steps. Consequentfren determining Claimant’s RFC, the ALJ
allotted reasonable weight to the consuttarfinding that Claimant had borderline
intellectual functioning.

VIIl. Conclusion

After a careful consideration of the evidenof record, the Court finds that the

Commissioner’s decisiolS supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, ginent

Order entered this day, the findécision of the Commissioner A&~ FIRMED and this
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matter iSDISMISSED from the docket of this Court.
The Clerk of this Court is directed toamsmit copies of this Order to all counsel
of record.

ENTERED: February1l, 2014

Chergl A\Eifert
Unijted States Magistrate Judge

o
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